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Introduction

The recent $34 million settlement of the case
brought against Infosys Corporation by the United
States Attorney’s Office in the Eastern District of
Texas is a mirror, reflecting the entire panoply of im-
migration issues and positions now under constant
debate and scrutiny in the United States. What is
reflected depends upon who is looking. The U.S. Attor-
ney’s office and Department of Justice see an Indian
corporation that has committed visa fraud by using
B-1 visa holders to perform skilled labor that should
have been done by U.S. citizens or H-1B visa holders.
Immigration attorneys with experience in representing
technology companies with offices in India and else-
where outside the United States see a company utilizing
the B-1 visa under standard industry practice and
under permissible circumstances set out in the Foreign
Affairs Manual. Immigration restrictionists see yet
another example of the misuse of visas to undercut
American workers, and secretly applaud the timing of
the announcement as it will be more fodder for the
grist mill of anti-immigration rhetoric. Comprehensive
immigration reformists see yet another example of how
our broken immigration system with its lack of suffi-
cient H-1B visas, lack of short-term employment visa
options, and unclear rules, has snared another large
corporation into a huge fine, allowing the agencies
involved to further fund more such investigations in
the future. Whatever the reader’s point of view, there
are many lessons for attorneys and corporate immigra-
tion compliance officers to learn from the case. This
article will review the allegations against Infosys, the
company’s responses and what concrete steps can be
taken in the wake of this case to protect corporate
clients and improve their immigration compliance.

The Allegations and Settlement

In a complaint filed in the Eastern District of
Texas on October 30, 2013, the Department of Justice

accused Infosys of ‘‘systemic visa fraud and abuse of
immigration processes.’’1 The factual allegations
against the company were the following:

1. Infosys submitted B-1 invitation letters that
contained false representations regarding the
true purpose of the proposed travel.

2. Infosys provided a ‘‘Do’s and Don’ts’’ memor-
andum to employees who would be attending
B-1 interviews. According to the government,
this memorandum constituted instructions on
how to deceive consular officials.

3. Infosys advised H-1B employees to tell consular
officials that their destination was the same as
that listed on the LCA, when the company and
the employee knew the destination had changed.

4. Infosys revised client contracts to exclude the
names of individual workers assigned to the
contract in order to conceal the fact that B-1
workerswould be assigned towork on the contract.

5. Infosys altered its client billing practices to conceal
the use of B-1 visitors on contracts by listing B-1
visitors as ‘‘off shore’’ resources and billing in
multiples of the lower off-shore rate, rather than
billing them out at the higher on-shore rate.

6. Infosys used B-1 visa holders to work in the
United States.

7 Infosys failed to properly maintain its I-9
records during 2010 and 2011. Violations
included a systemic failure to do necessary
reverifications, and multiple other substantive
and technical violations.

The Government charged Infosys under 31 U.S.C.
§ 3729(a)(1)(A). This provision creates civil liability
for any entity that presents a false or fraudulent claim
to the United States for payment or approval. Damages
range from $5000-$10,000 per act plus three times the
amount of damages the government suffers because of

1 The complaint is available at https://dl.dropboxuser
content.com/u/27924754/infosys%20-%20complaint%20
(filed)%20(1).pdf or Lexis.com > Get A Document > By
Party Name > Federal Docket.
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the act. Under the statute, the term ‘‘claim’’ is defined as
‘‘any request, whether under a contract or otherwise,
for money or property. that is made to an officer,
employee or agent, of the United States.’’ 8 U.S.C.
§ 3729(b)(2). The question of the applicability of this
provision to immigration matters did not deter Infosys
from settling with the government. The settlement
agreement and the payment of the $34 million were
also completed on October 30, the same day the
complaint was filed.2

The allocation of the settlement monies also leaves
more questions than answers: $5 million to Homeland
Security Investigations for I-9 violations; $5 million to
the Department of State for visa violations and $ 24
million to the US Attorney’s office in the Eastern
District of Texas. Out of the total, Jack Palmer, an
Infosys employee and whistleblower, received an un-
disclosed payment of between 15% and 25%. In spite
of the settlement agreement’s explicit statement that
each party will be responsible for its own legal fees,
the amounts and allocation seem much closer to a
repayment of the government for its costs of conducting
the 2.5 year investigation than to any civil penalty for
the alleged violations.

Infosys’s Response

In the settlement agreement, Infosys denied and
disputed all of the allegations listed above, except for
number seven, to which it agreed that it had committed
I-9 violations and agreed to cease and desist. According
to the settlement agreement, Infosys joined E-verify
in 2010 and began using an electronic I-9 provider
in 2011. In the settlement, the company also agreed to
retain at its own expense an independent third-party I-9
auditor to conduct an audit of 4% of the company’s I-9s
on an annual basis and prepare a report for the U.S.
Attorney for the Eastern District of Texas for the next
two years.

In responding to the allegation regarding LCA
violations and instructions given to H-1B applicants
regarding how to answer questions about the location
of their assignment, Infosys issued a flat denial in the
settlement agreement, but did confirm that it had added
more controls to strengthen its LCA compliance.

Infosys addressed the alleged B-1 visa fraud and
abuse of process allegations in several ways: First, it
issued denials. Second, it discontinued several of the

disfavored processes. Third, it put into place a robust
B-1 monitoring program.

In denying the allegations that it misused the B-1
visa, Infosys stated that its use of the B-1 visa was
legitimate and not intended to circumvent H-1B
program requirements. It relied upon the four preemi-
nent controlling principles of the B-1 visa: (1) the
business activity must be international in scope (2) the
source of remuneration, principal place of business
and place of profit accrual must be outside the United
States; (3) the employee must have a foreign residence
abroad and (4) the entry into the United States must be
temporary. Infosys relied upon the Foreign Affairs
Manual to confirm that the allowable activities under
a B-1 visa are much broader than what the Department
of Justice recognized in its complaint, and stated that
even ‘‘coding and programming’’ are legitimate B-1
activities in certain circumstances.3

The company also defended the level of detail in its
invitation letters, stating that it was appropriate for
the process and consistent with common practice in
the industry. It similarly defended the use of its ‘‘Do’s
and Don’ts’’ memorandum by citing the common use
of such recommendations to business travelers in other
companies and by U.S. government agencies that
sponsor B-1 travel. In the settlement agreement, the
company states that all client contract changes were
made to meet Infosys’ internal guidelines, and that
any changes in billing practices were approved by
clients. The company confirmed that none of these
actions were undertaken with the intent to deceive
consular officers or the U.S. government regarding
the activities of Infosys’ B-1 visitors.

To further address the government’s allegations,
Infosys discontinued use of its ‘‘Do’s and Don’ts’’
memorandum in 2011 during the first year of the inves-
tigation and agreed as a term of the settlement to stop
using non-specific invitation letters for B-1 applications

Infosys also instituted unspecified new policies and
procedures to ensure that LCA information was main-
tained up to date at all stages of the H-1B process. The
centerpiece of Infosys’ response to the allegations was a
new B-1 compliance policy for the company. The basic
elements of the B-1 policy are set out in the settlement
agreement:

� Strict limits on the duration of any one B-1 trip;

� Strict limits on the total number of days any one
employee may spend in the US on a B-1 visa in
a given year;

2 The settlement agreement is available at https://dl.drop
boxusercontent.com/u/27924754/infosys%20-%20settlement
%20agreement%20(filed)%20(1).pdf or Lexis.com > Get a
Document > By Party Name > Federal Dockets. 3 9 FAM 41.31 N11.
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� Restrictions on which employees may travel on
B-1;

� Training of employees and managers on the B-1
Travel Policy;

� New requirements for invitation letters;

� Certification requirements for Employees enga-
ging in B-1 travel regarding the nature of the
travel;

� Certification requirements for Managers
requesting B-1 travel of employees regarding
the nature of the travel;

� Certification requirements of Managers
involved in the immigration process.

The terms of the settlement agreement also included
an agreement by Infosys to allow any materials obtained
by the government during the investigation to be used by
the State Department and DHS for training purposes, as
well as a requirement to report on its progress one year
after the settlement. The government also reserved the
right to randomly sample Infosys’ B-1 submission docu-
ments for 2 years after the settlement. Potential violations
under Title 26 of the U.S. Code covering IRS violations
were specifically excluded from the agreement, leaving
open the possibility that Infosys could face additional
prosecution for the tax implications of not treating the
offending B-1 visitors as employees, among other things.

Lessons Learned

When the government decides to investigate, develop
a strategic plan to cooperate with the investigation as
much as possible. Infosys was lauded in the settlement
agreement by the government for its cooperation.

Internal corporate communications matter. The
Infosys ‘‘Do’s and Don’ts’’ memorandum was a golden
ticket for the government, seeming to provide it with
evidence that the entire company was in a conspiracy to
defraud the B-1 process. The memo was so detrimental,
that Infosys stopped using it early on in the investigation.
Immigration compliance has moved to the center of the
government’s radar screen. Internal communications,
policies and practices must fully align with a spirit of
respect and compliance for the immigration laws.

Respond quickly to practices perceived as proble-
matic by the government. As discussed in this article,
Infosys made many of the changes to its processes in
2011, during the first year of the investigation. Rather
than waiting until the government had made its final
determination, Infosys responded to the government
throughout the investigation. The length of time the
changes had been in place at the time of the settlement
was also considered as part of Infosys’ compliance.

There is no such defense as too big to comply.
Companies, no matter how large, and no matter how
rogue the employees may be, are responsible. It is clear
that before the investigation, Infosys as a company,
could not and did not know what every division,
project, manager or employee was doing or saying
during the B-1 process. Yet the company was charged
with, and accepted responsibility for, each and every
B-1 action made by one of its employees. To combat
this problem going forward, Infosys created a B-1
policy to allow the company to control the actions
made on its behalf, including requiring signed certifi-
cations and severe penalties for non-compliance.

When setting up an in-house immigration function,
consider the location carefully. The case against Info-
sys was brought in the Eastern District of Texas because
the company’s immigration function was housed in
Plano, Texas. Local legal precedent as well as the repu-
tation and zealousness of the US Attorney’s office
located in a particular district may be worth consid-
ering. Large investigations, such as the one against
Infosys, may also implicate state immigration, employ-
ment and tax laws.

I-9 investigations are sometimes the tip of the
iceberg. The Infosys investigation for the government
began with a whistleblower complaint, but for Infosys,
it began with an I-9 audit and snowballed into some-
thing much larger. Companies under I-9 investigation
should be on notice that other much larger and more
treacherous investigations may be looming. This leads
to several recommendations: Cooperate during the I-9
audit. Admit and correct mistakes early. Review all
other internal immigration processes, before the
government does. Assess I-9 and other immigration
liability at the outset so that a sound legal strategy can
be developed with the appropriate level of defense and
cooperation. When problems are identified, be proac-
tive in developing strategies to ameliorate the damage
and prevent them in the future.

Independent I-9 audits are respected by the govern-
ment and especially helpful for large companies. Hiring
an independent I-9 auditor to do an annual random
sample audit will be a significant piece of a company’s
good faith compliance affirmative defense. If following
this recommendation, companies must affirmatively
respond to any findings in the audit, and quickly
implement any recommended changes, including
required training and process changes. Be sure to docu-
ment everything.

LCA compliance monitoring is more difficult, but
more important than ever. H-1B and LCA violations are
now within the sights of the Department of Justice, as
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well as the Department of Labor. Neither the fast pace
of business, nor the size of company will immunize it
from liability for LCA violations. Set up internal LCA
compliance monitoring programs that require manager
certifications and hold them accountable for failures.
Encourage a corporate culture of compliance rather
than avoidance.

B-1 program monitoring is now a required compo-
nent of a comprehensive immigration compliance
program. The elements of the program designed by
Infosys create an excellent roadmap for advocates and
companies to follow. Programs should have the flex-
ibility to meet business needs, but sufficient controls to
discourage and punish illegal usage of the visa, as well
as mechanisms to alert the company when problems are
in the nascent stage.

Conclusion

There is a treasure trove of new work for immigra-
tion attorneys stemming from the lessons learned in the
Infosys settlement: Reviews of corporate immigration
communications; creation and monitoring of B-1 com-
pliance policies and procedures; and LCA audits and

policies among others. While immigration attorneys
have sounded the drum on complete compliance for
years, there has been minimal response from corporate
clients. Perhaps the high profile nature of the com-
pany involved this time, the sheer breadth of the
investigation and the record-breaking size of the settle-
ment will turn some corporate heads giving attorneys
a new opportunity to make the case for compliance.
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